#### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/7/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK NO. 86931-3-1

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 7/7/2025 1:24 PM

— Case #: 1043651

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

ROBERT W. COONEY,

Respondent,

and

HILLARY A. BROOKS,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Hillary A. Brooks WSBA #012138 2900 NW Clearwater Dr. #200-66 Bend, OR 97703 (503) 766-9991

#

#### INTRODUCTION

For the first time, a Washington appellate court affirmed a trial court order deciding the merits of an arbitration dispute during an arbitrability determination, despite the UAA's prohibition against doing so. In ruling, the court disregarded the issues framed by the appellant for decision, including the trial court's lack of jurisdiction and that the requested relief, preclusion of claims, exceeded the scope of relief available during an arbitrability determination.

Accordingly, this petition involves the converse situation to that in *Dalton M*. There, the court of appeals exceeded the scope of the issues presented by the parties and decided issues the parties had not pursued on appeal. Here, because the appellate court failed to address the issues on which the appeal is premised and affirmed erroneously on grounds it had no jurisdiction to reach, it effectively denied the appellant an "appeal of right" before a neutral arbiter.

This Court should accept review.

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Hillary Brooks, the appellant below.

# B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Brooks asks this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, filed on June 16, 2025 ("Op.") and reproduced in the appendix. While unpublished, it is accessible at 2025 WL 1684900.

## C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does a non-discretionary appellate court violate Washington's rule of party presentation in conflict with *Dalton M* when it affirms trial court orders without consideration of the appellant's issues on assignments of error, including those directed to the trial court's lack of jurisdiction, and by doing so, does the court effectively deny the appellant an "appeal of right"?

- 2. Can *Otis Housing* be interpreted to:
- (a) find waiver by conduct in litigating an earlier dispute involving different claims, and if so, does the defense subsume res judicata in conflict with *Hisle* and *Kelso*?
- (b) permit courts to decide the merits of a waiver by conduct defense in a dispute subject to the UAA in conflict with RCW 7.04A.060(3), vesting that authority in the arbitrator?
- (c) permit courts to decide the merits of a dispute subject to the UAA during an arbitrability determination in conflict with RCW 7.04A.070(3), prohibiting merits consideration?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

1. This civil case for breach of contract subject to the Uniform Arbitration Act ("UAA") relates to an arbitration demand ("Demand") asserting breach of contract claims for non-disclosure of significant assets in a property settlement agreement ("PSA") initiated after litigation over the PSA's validity ("CR 60 action"). CP 464-507.

2. The claims could not be joined because the CR 60 action had to be litigated in the dissolution, and the Demand claims had to be arbitrated. Op. 5. CP 261:16-20.

3. The PSA requires arbitration for claims "arising out of or in connection with this Agreement". CP 486 (§ XIII). The husband has not disputed the validity and enforceability of the PSA or that the claims fall within the scope of the arbitration provision. CP 187-200, 414-27.

4. The PSA includes a non-waiver of contract terms

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A thorough discussion of the facts and procedural history relative to this proceeding can be found in the Brief of Appellant ("BA"), BA 6-20.

provision, including the agreement to arbitrate. CP 475 ( $\P$  2.6).

Although raised by the appellate court *sua sponte,* the PSA does not include an election of remedies provision. Op.
 5, 8.

6. The husband challenged the arbitrability of the dispute by filing a motion in the closed dissolution, without serving the wife with process, asserting the CR 60 action precluded her from arbitrating the Demand. CP 183-258, 351-427 (refiled).

7. The wife objected to the husband's motion, including its filing in the closed dissolution, the failure to serve her with process, its failure to comply with RCW 7.04A.050(2), and its request for relief beyond the scope of court authority under RCW 7.04A. CP 259-315, 428-63 (in response to refiling).

8. Rather than limit review to the arbitrability determination as required by RCW 7.04A.070, the trial court precluded the wife's arbitration claims based on three grounds: res judicata, law of the case, and waiver (a defense the husband

had waived by twice failing to raise it). CP 269:7-10, 439:5-15, 618-21. The appellate court affirmed on waiver. Op. 1.

9. The PSA required disclosure of all assets. CP 471 (§1.9), 480:13-15 (§2.4). The husband did not fully disclose. CP 464-507. The Opinion cites portions from the CR 60 action, incorrectly stating that the wife did not explain the basis for the husband's ownership of undisclosed assets. *Compare* Op. CP 835-37 and Op. 11-12. The wife does not know why the court ignored the evidence proving the vesting of the husband's interest, only that it did. BA 6-11, 54-61. Nor did the court explain why it did not first interpret and then construe the husband's interest before ruling in the CR 60 action.<sup>2</sup> No court has decided the husband's interest in the undisclosed property because no court has considered or interpreted the final trust amendment that vested his interest. (CP 147, previously CP 717).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As discussed in, *for e.g., Int'l Marine Underwriters v. ABCD Marine, LLC*, 179 Wn.2d 274, 281-82 ¶19, 313 P.3d 395 (2013) (discussing process of first interpreting and then construing legal documents); *In re Estates of Wahl*, 99 Wn.2d 828, 831, 664 P.2d 1250 (1983) (holding documents executed together are to be construed together); *Radliff v. Schmidt*, 27 Wn. App. 2d 205, 212 ¶18, 532 P.3d 622 (2023) (holding the court must determine intent from the language of estate documents as a whole).

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

(1) <u>By Affirming a Trial Court Order Without</u> <u>Considering the Issues Framed by the Appellant for</u> <u>Decision, an Appellate Court Effectively Denies an</u> <u>Appellant an "Appeal of Right"</u>

Washington courts follow the rule of party presentation in which the appellate courts "decide only questions presented by the parties." *Dalton M, LLC v. North Cascade Trustee Serv., Inc.,* 2 Wn.3d 36, 50 ¶37, 534 P.3d 339 (2023). Under that rule, the parties "frame the issues for decision" and the courts are assigned "the role of neutral arbiter of matters the parties present." *Id.* Where an appellate court affirms a trial court order without considering the issues framed by an appellant, it effectively denies the appellant an "appeal of right" in a manner that offends due process. This issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

(a) <u>The due process right to a fair trial is implicated</u> where an appellate court fails to give effect to legislative intent in controlling statutes when ruling.

Non-discretionary appellate courts hear direct appeals or

review as a matter of right ("appeal of right"). Wash. Const. art. IV, §30 RCW 2.06; RAP 2.1(a)(1), 2.4(a). The right to a fair trial in a fair tribunal is a fundamental right with constitutional protections. *State v. Moreno*, 147 Wn.2d 500, 507, 58 P.3d 265 (2002); U.S Cons. art. XIV, §1; Wash. Const. art. I, §3. The due process right to a fair trial is implicated where courts cross the line from neutral arbiter to advocate. *See Moreno*, 147 Wn.2d at 509-11.

Because arbitration is statutory, the appellate court's failure to give effect to legislative intent when ruling conflicts with this Court's authority. Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of *Vancouver USA*, 188 Wn.2d 421, 435 ¶35, 395 P.3d 1031 (2017) (holding where a statute's meaning is plain on its face, courts "must give effect to that meaning as an expression of legislative intent."). In affirming, the appellate court failed to give effect to the plain language and ordinary meaning in RCW 7.04A.050(2) (imposing a mandatory process for initiating judicial review of arbitration disputes); RCW 7.04A.060(3) (vesting authority in the arbitrator decide affirmative defenses); RCW to

7.04A.070(1)/(2) (requiring a court to compel arbitration unless the court finds no enforceable agreement to arbitrate); RCW 7.04A.070(3) (prohibiting courts from considering the merits of a dispute during an arbitrability determination); RCW 7.04A.280(1)(a)/(b) (limiting appellate jurisdiction to review of orders denying a motion to compel or granting a motion to stay arbitration); and RCW 7.04A (containing no provision permitting courts to decide the merits of a dispute in actions brought under the UAA).

> (b) <u>The due process right to a fair trial is implicated</u> where the appellate court ignores the issues framed by an appellant for decision.<sup>3</sup>

Because the issues the appellate court failed to address were material to the dispute and would have required reversal if considered, the wife is *actually prejudiced* by the court's failure to follow the rule of party presentation, effectively denying her an appeal of right.

Issue 1: The husband failed to invoke trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The issues discussed are also applicable to the res judicata and law of the cases defenses. Op. 9 (fn 4).

jurisdiction under RCW 7.04A.050(2) by filing his motion challenging arbitrability in the closed dissolution and without service of process. BA 1-3, 26-27; Reply of Appellant ("RA") 1-6. Ralph's Concrete Pumping, Inc. v. Concord Concrete Pumps, Inc., 154 Wn. App. 581, 585 ¶10, 225 P.3d 1035 (2010) (holding service of process is basic to personal jurisdiction). The wife objected to the husband's failure to comply with the statute. CP 260:23-24, 310:21-23, and 321:6-7. That failure left the court powerless to act. RA 4-6. Godfrey v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co., 142 Wn.2d 885, 893, 16 P.3d 617 (2001) (holding that because arbitration is a statutory proceeding, both the rights of the parties and the power of the court are governed entirely by statute); and Gates v. Homesite Ins. Co., 28 Wn. App. 2d 271, 279 ¶19, 537 P.3d 1081 (2023) (holding orders entered without jurisdiction are void and must be vacated). In affirming the trial court's order despite the statutory violation, the court failed to give effect to legislative intent in conflict with *Columbia Riverkeeper*. Op. 1.

Issue 2: Neither the trial court (CP 618-21) nor the appellate court conducted an arbitrability determination as

required by RCW 7.04A.070(1)/(2), RCW 7.04A.280(1)(a)/(b).

Op. throughout (including no discussion of the statute, the arbitration provision, or whether the claims fell within its scope). BA 1-4, 20-21, 24-25, 31-32, 49-54; RA 1-3. Courts are required to order arbitration under RCW 7.04A.070(1)/(2) unless they find no enforceable agreement to arbitrate. *Heights at Issaquah* Ridge, Owners Ass'n v. Burton Landscape Group, Inc., 148 Wn. App. 400, 403 ¶5, 200 P.3d 254 (2009) (holding "[i]f the dispute can fairly be said to invoke a claim covered by the agreement, any inquiry by the courts must end."); and Marriage of Pascale, 173 Wn. App. 836, 838 ¶1, 295 P.3d 805 (2013) (holding courts must limit "inquiry to the question of whether [the] dispute falls within the scope of the parties' agreement to arbitrate"). The husband did not challenge the PSA's validity/enforceability or that the claims fall within its scope. CP 414-27. In affirming despite the statutory violation, the appellate court failed to give effect to legislative intent in conflict with Columbia Riverkeeper. Op. 1.

<u>Issue 3</u>: The trial court's order is void because it precludes

claims during an arbitrability determination, where consideration of merits is prohibited by RCW 7.04A.070(3). BA 1-5, 20-21, 29-31, 49-51; RA 1-3, 6, and 11-14. *Heights*, 148 Wn. App. at 403 ¶5 (holding courts resolve the threshold question of arbitrability without examination of the merits of the dispute); and Pascale, 173 Wn. App. at 843-44 ¶1 (holding "[w]here the parties have agreed to arbitrate a matter, a court must 'leave consideration even in the clearest cases to the arbitrator.""). Because the appellate court affirmed a trial court order that violated RCW 7.04A.070(3), the court failed to give effect to legislative intent in conflict with *Columbia Riverkeeper; West v.* Washington Dept. of Fish and Wildlife, 21 Wn. App. 2d 435, 441 ¶16, 506 P.3d 722 (2022) (holding statutes are interpreted to "achieve a harmonious total statutory scheme"). Whether a party can prevail on an affirmative defense, such as waiver, goes to the merits of the dispute, not its arbitrability. SVN Cornerstone, LLC v. N. 807, Inc., 10 Wn. App. 2d 72, 80 ¶19, 447 P.3d 220 (2019), *rev. denied*, 194 Wn. 2d 1018 (2020)

Issue 4: In precluding claims that could not have been

joined, the Opinion conflicts with settled authority. Op. 1. BA 3-5, 21-22, 36-37, 47; RA 23-25. Kelly-Hansen v. Kelly-Hansen, 87 Wn. App. 320, 330-31, 941 P.2d 1108 (1997) (holding it cannot be said a matter should have been litigated earlier if it could not have been); Guardado v. Guardado, 200 Wn. App. 237, 242 ¶16, 402 P.3d 357 (2017) (actions to modify a decree must be filed in the dissolution); *Pascale*, 173 Wn. App. at 807 ¶1 (holding "[i]f it can fairly be said that the arbitration agreement covers the dispute, arbitration is required."); Wiese v. Cach, LLC, 189 Wn. App. 466, 479 ¶29, 358 P.3d 1213 (2015) (holding claims subject to arbitration must be arbitrated even if inefficiencies result); and Berman v. Tierra Real Estate Group, LLC, 23 Wn. App. 2d 387, 399-400 ¶29, 515 P.3d 1004 (2022) (holding waiver is disfavored, imposes a heavy burden, and is not subject to bright-line rules).

<u>Issue 5</u>: In affirming the trial court order based on a waiver defense where the parties contracted for non-waiver, the Opinion conflicts with this Court's decision in *Mike M. Johnson, Inc. v. County of Spokane*, 150 Wn.2d 375, 391-92, 78 P.3d 161 (2003) (holding because waiver by conduct requires unequivocal acts evidencing an intent to waive, a writing indicating an intent not to waive prevents such a finding). Op. 1. CP 475 (¶2.6); BA 4, 45; RA 29-30.

> (c) An appellate court crosses the line to advocate when it inverts burdens of proof and presumptions in a manner that is outcome-determinative.

"The party opposing arbitration bears the burden of showing that the agreement is not enforceable." Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC, 167 Wn.2d 781, 797 ¶19, 225 P.3d 213 (2009). In holding "the trial court properly treated [the wife] as the proponent" of the non-dismissal of her claims, the court inverted the burden of proof from the husband to the wife. Opinion, 9 (fn. 3); BA 24. RCW 7.04A.070 provides that, whether proceeding under .070(1) or .070(2), the party resisting arbitration carries the burden of proving that arbitration should not be ordered. Satomi, 167 Wn.2d at 797 ¶19. In condoning an inversion of the burden of proof resulting from trial court error (BA 2, 12-14, 28-29), the appellate court failed to give effect to legislative intent in conflict with Columbia Riverkeeper. BA 2627; 49-54; RA 1-4. *French v. Gabriel*, 116 Wn.2d 584, 591-92, 806 P.2d 1234 (1991) (holding a party does not waive rights by responding to deficiencies in another party's motion); and *Skagit Surveyors and Engineers, LLC v. Friends of Skagit Co.,* 135 Wn.2d 542, 556, 958 P.2d 962 (1998) (holding a party cannot waive lack of subject matter jurisdiction because courts are powerless without it).

"[C]ourts must indulge every presumption 'in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contract language itself or an allegation of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability."" *Zuver v. Airtouch Comm., Inc.,* 153 Wn.2d 293, 301, 103 P.3d 753 (2004). BA 24; RA 15. While the appellate court acknowledged those presumptions, it did not adhere to them. *Compare* Opinion, at 4 and Opinion at 5 (fn. 2) ("Although [the wife] asserts that [the husband] waived [the waiver by conduct defense], '[w]e may affirm on any basis supported by the record whether or not the argument was made below."").

By affirming a trial court order precluding claims based on

a waiver defense, the appellate court did not make every presumption in favor of arbitration when it: 1) excused the husband's waiver of the defense despite his burden to prove arbitration should not be ordered and instead made presumptions in favor of affirming by overlooking that waiver (Op. 5 n.2, BA 12-14, 32-34); 2) ignored that the claims could not have been joined (BA 4, 21-22, 36-37, 47; RA 23-26); and 3) ignored that the parties contracted for non-waiver. CP 475 (§2.6); BA 45; RA 29-30.

# (d) <u>An appellate court crosses the line to advocate</u> when it sua sponte raises new theories to support a ruling.

The appellate court raised issues that the husband did not, in conflict with *Dalton M*, 2 Wn.3d at 53 ¶¶43-44; RAP 12.1. One example was imposing an election of remedies on the wife. Op. 5, 8. Because the husband never raised the defense, he waived his right to do so. *French*, 116 Wn.2d at 589 (holding all defenses must be raised in a single motion). In any event, because the parties did not contract for an election and the appellate court acknowledged the cases involve different substantive rights (Op. 8), imposing an election conflicts with this Court's authority. CP 470-88, RA 31-34. *Civil Serv. Comm'n of the City of Kelso v. City of Kelso*, 137 Wn.2d 166, 177, 969 P.2d 474 (2000) (holding this court will not impose an election of remedies clause where the parties bargained for none).

Another example of advocacy in the Opinion is the alarming holding that if the wife wanted due process before her claims were precluded, she had to file her own complaint. Op. 9. BA 49-54. "The very purpose of arbitration is to avoid the courts insofar as the resolution of the dispute is concerned.... arbitration is a substitute for, rather than a mere prelude to, litigation." *Godfrey*, 142 Wn.2d at 892. By reversing presumptions and assigning the husband's burdens under RCW 7.04A.050(2) and RCW 7.04A.070(1)/(2) to the wife, the appellate court failed to give effect to legislative intent in conflict with *Columbia Riverkeeper*.

(e) <u>The appellate court denied the wife an "appeal of</u> <u>right" before a neutral arbiter in a manner that</u> <u>offends due process</u>.

The appellate court failed to fulfill its obligation to act as

a neutral arbiter of the issues presented by the parties for decision. *Dalton M*, 2 Wn.3d at 50 ¶37. By affirming the trial court order without considering the wife's issues framed for decision, failing to give effect to legislative intent in controlling statutes, and acting as an advocate for affirmance, the appellate court effectively denied the wife an appeal of right.

That failure is more striking because this is a contract dispute, not a suit in equity. "It is black letter law of contracts that the parties to a contract shall be bound by its terms." *Zuver*, 153 Wn.2d at 302. To affirm, the appellate court effectively rewrote the parties' contract. When the PSA did not support an election of remedies, the court nonetheless applied one. Op. 5, 8. When the court wanted to find a waiver to affirm, it disregarded the PSA's non-waiver provision. CP 475 (¶2.6). Courts cannot, "based upon general considerations of abstract justice, make a contract for parties which they did not make for themselves." *Wagner v. Wagner*, 95 Wn.2d 94, 104, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980).

It is the public policy of Washington both to encourage divorcing parties to settle their disputes amicably and to resolve disputes through arbitration. RCW 26.09.070(1), RCW 7.04A. Yet, when the wife did that, Division 1 denied her a remedy in the CR 60 action, holding that by settling the dissolution rather than continuing to litigate, she waived the fiduciary duties her husband owed her. BA 6-11. Now, the same court denies her the remedies available under the contract, despite the legislature's preservation of the post-dissolution enforcement right. Denying the wife a remedy for doing what the legislature encouraged her to do is failing to give effect to legislative intent under both RCW 26.09.070(6) and RCW 7.04A, in conflict with *Columbia Riverkeeper*.

This court should accept review and hold that civil litigants in Washington are entitled to an "appeal of right" that complies with Washington's rule of party presentation to have the issues they frame for appeal decided by a neutral arbiter, even when the action is one the court disfavors.

> (2) <u>The Court of Appeals Misinterpreted Otis Housing</u> and the Waiver by Conduct Defense in Four <u>Significant Respects</u>

> The appellate court's interpretation of Otis Housing Ass'n,

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