# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/14/2025 3:25 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 104365-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

ROBERT W. COONEY,

Respondent,

and

HILLARY A. BROOKS,

Petitioner.

#### ANSWER T● PETITI●N F●R REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Valerie Villacin WSBA No. 34515

1619 8<sup>th</sup> Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorney for Respondent

#### **

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

Division One affirmed in an unpublished opinion in Cause no. 84720-1-I on November 27, 2023 (CP 842-64), holding that Cooney's beneficiary interest in the trust was not an asset that required disclosure: "Cooney's interest was uncertain to vest and he had no contractual right to enforce it," and thus "Cooney's contingent interest in the trust was an expectancy and not a property interest." (CP 854)

This Court denied Brooks' petition for review on April 9, 2024. (CP 934-35)

D. After appellate review of the CR 60 decision concluded, Brooks sought to arbitrate her claim that Cooney breached their agreement by failing to disclose his beneficiary interest in the revocable trust and its assets.

On April 22, 2024, less than two weeks after this Court denied review, Brooks demanded arbitration, asserting that the "matter concerns breach of contract and breach of the covenant of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing relating to the PSA between" the parties. (CP

368) As she had argued in her CR 60 motion, Brooks again claimed that "Cooney failed to disclose assets pursuant to ¶ 4.2 that it was ultimately discovered he both owned and controlled prior to the execution of the PSA and entry of the decree . . . " (CP 370, emphasis omitted; see CP 384) Brooks claimed she was entitled to "damages" for the maintenance she claimed she would have received but for Cooney's purported nondisclosure. (CP 372)

# E. The trial court denied Brooks's motion to compel arbitration, finding that she waived arbitration by litigating her claims in the CR 60 proceeding.

Before arbitration commenced, Cooney filed a motion in the superior court for a determination whether Brooks's contract claims were subject to arbitration in light of the earlier court proceedings, which had resulted in a final judgment that was affirmed on appeal. (CP 183) Brooks filed a cross-motion to compel arbitration and asked the court to strike Cooney's motion (CP 259),

claiming it was "defective," and a "miscaptioned, misnoticed, and misfiled CR 12(b)(6) motion." (CP 263)

On May 29, 2024, King County Superior Court Judge Michael Scott ("the trial court") struck Cooney's motion because it "was not properly noted for consideration by the Chief Civil Judge and working copies were not provided to the Court as required by LCR 7." (CP 325) Therefore, the sole motion before the trial court was Brooks's motion to compel. The trial court ordered that Cooney's "contentions that arbitration of the alleged dispute is barred or otherwise inappropriate shall be briefed in opposition to [Brooks]'s motion." (CP 325-26)

The trial court denied Brooks's motion to compel arbitration. (CP 627-30) The trial court concluded that Brooks had waived her right to arbitrate her contract claims by litigating them in the CR 60 proceeding, and that her contract claims were also barred by res judicata and law of the case. (CP 628-29)

### F. Division One affirmed the trial court's decision in an unpublished opinion.

Division One affirmed the trial court's order denying arbitration, holding that whether Brooks waived her right to arbitration by her litigation conduct was properly decided by the trial court (Op. 4) and "the trial court correctly ruled that Brooks waived her right to arbitrate by conduct inconsistent with that intent, i.e., electing to litigate in superior court and the court of appeal for two years." (Op. 8) The court declined to address whether res judicata or law of the case also precluded arbitration (Op. 8) because "denial of the motion to compel arbitration was warranted solely on the basis of waiver." (Op. 9, n. 4) The court awarded Cooney his fees on appeal under the fee provision of the parties' agreement, entitling the prevailing party to fees in any action or proceeding related to the agreement. (Op. 12-13; CP 376-77)

#### III. GROUNDS FOR DENIAL OF REVIEW

A. Review is not warranted because there is no constitutional right to have an appellate court address every issue raised on appeal.

Review of Division One's unpublished opinion is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) based on Brooks's claim that "[w]here an appellate court affirms a trial court order without considering the issues framed by an appellant, it effectively denies the appellant an 'appeal of right' in a manner that offends due process." (See Petition 7-19, 28) First, there is no constitutional right to an appeal in a civil case in which only property or financial interests are threatened. In re Grove, 127 Wn.2d 221, 239-40, 897 P.2d 1252 (1995).

Second, there is no constitutional right to have a court address every issue raised by the parties on appeal as this Court recognized in *Hall v. Am. Nat. Plastics, Inc.*, 73 Wn.2d 203, 437 P.2d 693 (1968). After this Court in *Hall* disposed of an appeal "on points and issues not raised by

either party," it noted that it might be urged that "this has deprived appellant of his rights on appeal." 73 Wn.2d at 205. This Court concluded that it did not because "courts of review are not obliged to decide all issues raised by the parties, but only those which are determinative." *Hall*, 73 Wn.2d at 205.

Accordingly, Brooks was not "denied an appeal of right" (Petition 7, 28) because Division One did not address every issue she raised. "Principles of judicial restraint dictate that if resolution of an issue effectively disposes of a case, we should resolve the case on that basis without reaching any other issues that might be presented." Washington State Farm Bureau Fed'n v. Gregoire, 162 Wn.2d 284, 307, ¶40, 174 P.3d 1142 (2007) (quoted source omitted); see, e.g., Schmidt v. Cornerstone Investments, Inc., 115 Wn.2d 148, 165-66, 795 P.2d 1143 (1990) (declining to address issues raised by respondent on crossappeal because they were "irrelevant"); Hoberg v. City of

Bellevue, 76 Wn. App. 357, 363, 884 P.2d 1339 (1994) (declining to review "claimed procedural errors" because they were "unnecessary" to its decision).

Courts "need not decide all issues posed by the parties, only those necessary to a proper result." *Griffin v. W. RS, Inc.*, 143 Wn.2d 81, 88, 18 P.3d 558 (2001). Therefore, when only certain issues are "dispositive," the court need not address the other issues that are presented. *Christiano v. Spokane Cnty. Health Dist.*, 93 Wn. App. 90, 93-94, 969 P.2d 1078 (1998) (declining to address what "may appear [to be] the initial issue" because another issue was "dispositive"), *rev. denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1032 (1999).

Here, the "dispositive issues" for a proper resolution of Brooks's appeal from the order denying arbitration were: 1) did the trial court have authority to decide whether Brooks waived arbitration by her litigation conduct in the CR 60 proceeding; and 2) did the trial court properly decide that Brooks had waived arbitration. Once Division

One decided those issues in the affirmative, it was unnecessary for the court to address the other issues raised by Brooks.

For instance, Division One did not have to address Brooks's argument that Cooney did not properly invoke the trial court's jurisdiction by filing his motion "in the closed dissolution and without service of process" (Petition 9-10) when, as the court noted, the "trial court struck Cooney's motion on Brooks's request. The only motion pending before the court was Brooks's motion to compel." (Op. 9, n. 3)

Division One also did not have to address whether RCW 7.04A.070 required the trial court to compel arbitration based on the existence of an agreement to arbitrate (Petition 10-12) beyond holding that "the right to arbitrate under an agreement may be waived by conduct inconsistent with any other intent . . ." (Op. 4, citing *Otis Hous. Ass'n, Inc. v. Ha*, 165 Wn.2d 582, 588, ¶8, 201 P.3d

309 (2009)) Because a party can waive the right to arbitrate by electing to litigate, the mere existence of an agreement to arbitrate does not require a court to compel arbitration under RCW 7.04A.070. See, e.g., Otis Housing, 165 Wn.2d at 588, ¶8; Detweiler v. J.C. Penney Cas. Ins. Co., 110 Wn.2d 99, 110, 751 P.2d 282 (1988); Jeoung Lee v. Evergreen Hosp. Med. Ctr., 195 Wn.2d 699, 708, ¶24, 464 P.3d 209 (2020) (all denying arbitration when party waived contractual right to arbitrate by their litigation conduct).

Division One also did not need to address whether the trial court purportedly erred in precluding claims from arbitration that could not have been joined in the CR 60 proceeding (Petition 12-13, 16) when the court held the "dispositive issue in both [the CR 60 proceeding and her arbitration demand] is the same." (Op. 8, emphasis omitted)

Finally, Division One did not have to address whether a "non-waiver" provision in the parties' agreement precluded the trial court from finding that Brooks waived arbitration (Petition 13-14, 16, 18) when Brooks did not make this argument in the trial court.<sup>2</sup> "RAP 2.5(a) generally provides that the appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." *Marriage of Wixom*, 182 Wn.2d 1022, ¶4, 353 P.3d 632 (2015).

Division One's unpublished opinion addressing only those issues that were "dispositive" to its decision affirming the trial court's order denying arbitration does not conflict with *Dalton M, LLC v. N. Cascade Tr. Servs., Inc.*, 2 Wn.3d 36, 534 P.3d 339 (2023) (Petition 7, 16), in which this Court reversed a decision by Division Three because it raised a new issue *sua sponte* to affirm the trial court's fee award

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Brooks only cited to the "non-waiver" provision in the trial court in arguing that she "could not have waived full disclosure" of assets. (CP 451)

based on an unpled claim that depended on "factual allegations that were never presented in or proved to the trial court." 2 Wn.3d at 40, ¶5.

Division One did not affirm the trial court's order denying arbitration by resolving an issue not raised by either party. (Petition 16-19) Whether Brooks waived her right to arbitrate by electing to litigate was addressed by both parties in their merits briefs in the Court of Appeals. While Brooks claims Cooney "never raised the defense" of waiver in the trial court (Petition 16), she relies on Cooney's stricken motion. As Division One noted, "the only motion pending before the [trial] court was Brooks's motion to compel" (Op. 9, n. 3)—which Cooney opposed for, among other reasons, waiver. (CP 416-20)

In holding that Brooks waived her right to arbitrate by "electing to litigate in the superior court and the court of appeals for two years" (Op. 8), Division One did not *sua* sponte "impose an election of remedies clause where the

parties bargained for none." (Petition 17) Whether a party waives arbitration depends on if that party "elects to litigate instead of arbitrate." *Otis Housing*, 165 Wn.2d at 588, ¶8; *Lee*, 195 Wn.2d at 705. Because the issue of waiver was squarely before the court, it did not "cross the line to advocate" (Petition 17) by holding Brooks waived arbitration when "she elected to file a CR 60 motion rather than invoke her right to arbitration" and "then elected to pursue an appeal." (Op. 5)

B. Review is not warranted because Division One's unpublished opinion is consistent with published appellate court opinions recognizing that courts decide whether a party's litigation conduct waived arbitration.

Review of Division One's unpublished opinion is also not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) because the opinion is wholly consistent with published appellate court opinions from this Court and all three divisions of the Court of Appeals recognizing that courts decide whether an agreement to arbitrate is waived by litigation conduct. (Op.

4, citing *River House Dev. Inc. v. Integrus Architecture*, *P.S.*, 167 Wn. App. 221, 232, ¶26, 272 P.3d 289 (2012) (Div. III 2012)) *See, e.g., Jeoung Lee v. Evergreen Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 195 Wn.2d 699, 708, ¶24, 464 P.3d 209 (2020); *Steele v. Lundgren*, 85 Wn. App. 845, 860, 935 P.2d 671 (Div. I 1997), *rev. denied*, 133 Wn.2d 1014 (1997); *Saili v. Parkland Auto Ctr., Inc.*, 181 Wn. App. 221, 228, ¶20, 329 P.3d 915 (Div. II 2014), *rev. denied*, 181 Wn.2d 1015 (2014) (all affirming decisions by trial courts denying arbitration on the basis of waiver due to litigation conduct).<sup>3</sup>

The United States Supreme Court has also recognized that notwithstanding policies favoring arbitration, it is courts that decide whether a party has waived arbitration by electing to litigate in *Morgan v. Sundance, Inc.*, 596 U.S. 411 (2022). "When a party who has agreed to arbitrate a dispute instead brings a lawsuit," without objection by defendants who "engage in months, or even years of litigation . . . before deciding they would fare better in arbitration. When that happens, the *court* faces a question: Has the defendant's request to switch to arbitration come too late?" *Morgan*, 596 U.S. at 413 (emphasis added).

Division One's unpublished opinion holding that "whether a party has waived their right to arbitration by choosing to litigate is a decision for the court, rather than arbitrator" (Op. 4) is also consistent with the intent underlying the Uniform Arbitration Act (UAA), codified in RCW ch. 7.04A. (Petition 20-22) As RCW 7.04A.901 states that "in applying and construing this uniform act, consideration must be given to the need to promote uniformity of the law with respect to its subject matter among states that enact it," this Court has approved consideration of the official comments by the drafters of the UAA in construing the courts' authority under RCW 7.04A.060(3), which provides that a "court shall decide whether an agreement to arbitrate exists or a controversy is subject to an agreement to arbitrate." Townsend v. Quadrant Corp., 173 Wn.2d 451, 456-57, ¶11, 268 P.3d 917 (2012).

As reflected in the comments, "[w]aiver is one area where courts, rather than arbitrators, often make the decision as to enforceability of an arbitration clause . . . It is also a matter of judicial economy to require that a party, who pursues an action in a court proceeding but later claims arbitrability, be held to a decision of the court on waiver." *River House*, 167 Wn. App. at 234, ¶31 (quoting Uniform Arbitration Act (UAA) (2000) §6, comment 5).

Consistent with these comments, the weight of both federal and state authority "treat litigation-conduct waiver as an issue for the court rather than an issue for the arbitrator." River House, 167 Wn. App. at 235, ¶32; see Am. Gen. Home Equity, Inc. v. Kestel, 253 S.W.3d 543, 551-52 (Ky. 2008) ("Questions of litigation-conduct waiver are best resolved by a court"); Perry Homes v. Cull, 258 S.W.3d 580, 588 (Tex. 2008) ("when waiver turns on conduct in court, the court is obviously in a better position to decide whether it amounts to waiver"), cert. denied, 555

U.S. 1103 (2009) (both cited in *River House*, 167 Wn. App. 2d at 235-36, ¶¶32, 33).

Having the court decide whether a party has waived arbitration by their litigation conduct does not run afoul of RCW 7.04A.070(3) (Petition 20-22, 27), which prohibits courts from denying arbitration "because the claim subject to arbitration lacks merit or grounds for the claim have not been established." As Division One recognized, "ruling that Brooks waived her right to arbitration did not require the trial court to examine the merits of Brooks's claim." (Op. 9) Instead, "the determination of waiver examines a party's conduct, not the merits of the underlying claims." (Op. 9)

"Allowing the court to decide this issue of arbitrability comports with the separability doctrine because in most instances waiver concerns only the arbitration clause itself and not an attack on the underlying contract." *River House*, 167 Wn. App. at 234, ¶31 (quoting UAA §6, comment 5). "As waiver by litigation conduct goes

solely to the arbitration clause rather than the whole contract, consistency suggests it is an issue for the courts." *Perry Homes*, 258 S.W.3d at 589. Rather than the merits of the dispute, the court considers whether a party's conduct *in court* is inconsistent with an intent to arbitrate under that provision. "Contracting parties would expect the court to decide whether one party's conduct before the court waived the right to arbitrate." *Perry Homes*, 258 S.W.3d at 588 (quoted source omitted).

C. Review is not warranted because Division One's unpublished opinion holding that petitioner waived arbitration by seeking to arbitrate the same dispositive issue that she previously litigated, and lost, does not conflict with any published appellate court decisions

Review of Division One's unpublished opinion holding Brooks waived her right to arbitrate by electing to litigate in the CR 60 proceeding is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) because it does not conflict with any published appellate court decisions. Contrary to Brooks's

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